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Defendants the Univerdity of Southern Maine and the Trustees of the University of Maine System

movefor summary judgment on dl claimsassarted againgt them in this actionremoved from state court and

aising out of a student disciplinary proceeding, asdoesthe remaining defendant,” Ken Nye. | recommend
that the court grant the motions.

. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is appropriate only if the record shows “that there is no genuine issue as to any

materia fact and that the moving party isentitled to ajudgment asameatter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

“Inthisregard, ‘materia’ means that a contested fact has the potentia to change the outcome of the suit

under the governing law if the dispute over it is resolved favorably to the nonmovant. By like token,

‘genuineé meansthat ‘the evidence about thefact is such that areasonable jury could resolve the point in



favor of thenonmoving party.”” Navarrov. Pfizer Corp., 261 F.3d 90, 93-94 (1st Cir. 2001) (quoting
McCarthy v. Northwest Airlines, Inc., 56 F.3d 313, 315 (1st Cir. 1995)). The party moving for
summary judgment must demonstrate an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party’s case.
Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325 (1986). In determining whether thisburden ismet, the court
must view the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and give that party the benefit of all
reasonable inferencesin itsfavor. Nicolo v. Philip Morris, Inc., 201 F.3d 29, 33 (1st Cir. 2000). Once
the moving party has meade aprdiminary showing that no genuineissue of materid fact exigts, the nonmovant
must “produce specific facts, in suitable evidentiary form, to establish the presence of atridworthy issue.”
Triangle Trading Co. v. Robroy Indus., Inc., 200 F.3d 1, 2 (1t Cir. 1999) (citation and internal
punctuation omitted); Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). “Asto any essentid factua eement of its claim on which the
nonmovant would bear the burden of proof at trid, its falure to come forward with sufficient evidence to
generate atriadworthy issue warrants summary judgment to the moving party.” Inre Spigel, 260 F.3d 27,
31 (1t Cir. 2001) (citation and internd punctuation omitted).
Il. Factual Background

The folloning undisputed materia facts are gppropriately presented in the parties respective
satements of materid facts submitted pursuant to this court’s Loca Rule 56.

The Univerdty of Southern Maine is an adminidrative unit of the Universty of Mane Sysem
(“UMS’) and has no independent legd datus. University Defendants Statement of Undisputed Materia
Facts, etc. (“Defendants SMF’) (Docket No. 42) | 1; Plaintiff’s Response to University Defendants

Statement of Undisputed Materia Fects, etc. (“Plaintiff’ s Responsve SMF’) (Docket No. 65) 1. Any

! Claims asserted against an additional defendant, Charles Rittershaus, were dismissed on July 23, 2004. Docket No. 79.



discipline of a sudent & UMS is governed by the Student Conduct Code, which prohibits activities by
sudentsthat are consdered to “directly and sgnificantly interfere” with the University’ seducationa misson
or with the University’s “subsdiaries [9¢] responshilities” including “ protecting the hedlth and safety of
personsinthe campuscommunity.” Id. 1112-3. The Code establishesa Student Conduct Committeewnhich
is designated to hear and decide appeal s of disciplinary sugpensions made by aconduct officer, the person
respongble for adjudicating dleged violations of the Code. 1d. /5.

The Code provides that “adminisiration and interpretation of the Student Conduct Code shdl be
soldy within the jurisdiction of the [Conduct] Officer, [ Student Conduct] Committee and the President or
his’her designee on each campus, such interpretation being pursuant to the procedures of thisCode.” Id.
6.2 The Code provides that the Committee “shall consist of at least three, but no more than seven,
members, a least one of whom shdl be a student and one a Presidentid designee.  The number of
Committee members, the composition of the Committee, and the method of selection shdl be determined by
each campus in a manner gpproved by the Presdent.” Id. §8. Thereissomelevd of faculty involvement
on each of the student conduct committees throughout the UM S, with faculty serving asvoting members of

the committeesin some instances. Defendants SMF 9.3

2 The plaintiff objectsto this paragraph of the defendants’ statement of material facts“to the extent paragraph 6 isalegal

conclusion” and then admitsthat the quoted language “is provided in the code.” Plaintiff's Responsive SMF 6. Since
the paragraph purports to do nothing more than quote language from the Student Conduct Code, the objection is
meaningless. | note that the plaintiff includes some of the same language from the same section of the Code in her
statement of material facts. Plaintiff’s Statement of Disputed Materia Facts (“Plaintiff’s SMF") (Docket No. 66) 1 74.

3 The plaintiff objectsto this paragraph of the defendants’ statement of material facts, contending that it is hearsay and
without support “on the record.” Plaintiff’sResponsive SMF 9. To the contrary, the authority cited by the defendants
in support of this paragraph, paragraph 10 of the Affidavit of J. Kelley Wiltbank (Docket No. 54), fully supports the
factual statement set forth in the text above. The affidavitis made on Wiltbank’ s personal knowledge, id. at jurat, and
demonstrates the basis for that personal knowledge, id. 111, 6, 8. The objectionisoverruled. The plaintiff aternatively
denies the paragraph, stating that “ members of the Student Conduct Committee must be students and they cannot be
faculty members.” Plaintiff’s Responsive SMF 9. However, the authority cited in support of that assertion, the
deposition of Joelle Smith, demonstrates that Smith stated that only students could be members of the committeeat the
University of Southern Maine. Deposition of Joelle L. Smith (Docket No. 45) at 18-19. Paragraph 9 of the defendants’

(continued on next page)



Stephen Nelson serves as the assstant to the vice-president for community standards at the
Univergty of Southern Maine and asthat campus sconduct officer. 1d. 1 10; Plantiff’ sResponsgve SVIF
10. Heistheadminigtrator with primary respongbility for investigating and adjudicating dleged violations of
the Code. Id. Atthe University of Southern Maine, the Committeeis composed entirely of graduate and
undergraduate students, with non-voting faculty advisors. 1d. §11. There are presently three faculty
advisorsto the Committee, but generdly only oneispresent during Committee hearings. 1d. It hasbeenthe
generd practice at the University of Southern Maineat least Snce 1999 for the Committee sfaculty advisor
to participatein the questioning of complainants, respondents and witnesses. Defendants SMF §13.* Itis
asthe generd practicefor the Committee’ sfaculty advisor to be present and ass st the Committee during
its deliberations. 1d. 115.°

The Code providesfor the participation of “ advisors,” who are defined asindividua swho advise or
support “any party involved in the process” Id. § 17; Plaintiff’s Responsve SMF 1 17. The Code
provides that members of the Committee may question witnesses or parties to the proceeding a any time
during the hearing and that witnesses or parties may ask questions of other witnesses or parties only at the
discretion of and through the chair. 1d. §18.

During the 2001-02 academic year, the plaintiff was a first-year sudent a the Universty of

Southern Mane. 1d. 119. On the night of April 13, 2002 the plaintiff atended a party a an off-campus

statement of material facts refers to practices on other campuses of the University system.

* The defendant denies this paragraph of the defendants’ statement of material facts, Plaintiff’s Responsive SMF {13, but
thefactual assertions offered in support of her denial are not responsive to the statement presented in paragraph 13 of the
defendants’ statement of material facts, which is supported by the citations given to materialsin the summary judgment
record.

® The plaintiff objectsto this paragraph of the defendants’ statement of material facts as hearsay. Plaintiff’s Responsive
SMF 115. The affidavit cited by the defendantsin support of this paragraph makes clear that the statement is based on
personal knowledge; it isnot hearsay. Affidavit of Stephen M. Nelson (Docket No. 55) 1 1-3, 7, jurat. Theobjectionis
overruled. The plaintiff also purports to deny the paragraph, but the factual assertions offered in support of the denial are
(continued on next page)



fraternity in Gorham, Maine. 1d. 120.° On Sunday, April 14, 2002, the plaintiff’ sresident advisor, Lynn
Clements, wastold that the plaintiff had been sexudly assaulted the prior night by an unknown mae student
at the party. Id. §21.” Clements accompanied the plaintiff to the University of Southern Mainepolice. 1d.
1122. On April 14 or 15, 2002 Nelson learned that the plaintiff had filed areport that she had been raped
at afraternity house the prior weekend. 1d. 24. On April 15, Nelson contacted the plaintiff by letter and
offered his assstance with respect to potentia discipline under the Code of the student responsible for the
aleged assaullt. 1d.

After meeting with the plaintiff, Nelson began an investigation of her dlegations. 1d. 125.2 Nelson
immediatdy suspended the dleged assailant from the University of Southern Mane and gave him three
hours from receipt of the suspension notice to leave the campus. 1d. On April 25, 2002 Nelson sent the
aleged assailant aletter informing him that he was not to have any contact with the plaintiff and that he could
not be present on any University of Southern Maine property. I1d. § 26. On May 9, 2002 Nelson
concluded hisinvestigation and issued adecison finding the dleged assailant * responsible’ for sexud assault
and “conduct threstening or endangering the hedth or safety of any individud,” both semming from the
dleged sexud assault of the plantiff on April 14, 2002. 1d. 1 27. The University of Southern Maine
imposed the following sanctions on the aleged assailant: dismissal from the Universty of Southern Maine
and permanent separation fromdl unitsin UMS, subject to areview after fiveyears, and acrimind trespass

notice barring him from Universty of Southern Maine property for five years. 1d. 28. The alleged

not responsive to the statement presented by the defendants.

® The plaintiff objects to this paragraph but also admitsit. Plaintiff’s Responsive SMF 1 20.

" The plaintiff objectsto this paragraph of the defendants’ statement of material facts as“ not supported by the citation,”
Plaintiff’s Responsive SMF 1 21, but review of the authority cited by the defendants reveals that it does support the
paragraph, as modified in the text above, Continued Deposition of Angela Theriault (Docket No. 47) at 22-23. The
objection isoverruled.



assallant filed atimely gpped from thisdecison on May 15, 2002. 1d. 129. Anappedl hearing beforethe
Committee was scheduled for July 12, 2002. Id.

On June 13, 2002 Nelson sent the plaintiff aletter outlining her optionsin terms of participating in
the Committee hearing. 1d. § 30. On June 17, 2002 Nelson sent the plaintiff a letter with additiona
information about the hearing, including the names of the Committee membersand their faculty advisor, alist
of invited witnesses, acopy of the Code, acopy of the proceduresto be used at the hearing, and acopy of
her police statement. 1d. 31. Inthat letter, Nelson offered to contact any additional witnesses that the
plaintiff wanted to appear a the hearing and to meet with her to review the case and her testimony in
preparation for the hearing. 1d. 32. The plantiff met with Nelson a handful of times. Id. {1 33. Asthe
process continued, Nelson kept the plaintiff informed. 1d. § 34.

At thehearing on July 12, 2002 the plaintiff was represented by counsdl. 1d. §36. A partition was
placed between the plaintiff and her dleged assailant, at her request. 1d. §37. The plaintiff was permitted
to have arape crigs counsdlor present throughout the hearing to provide support. 1d. 1 38.

The chair of the Committee during the hearing was a femde second-year law student. 1d. 1 39.
She had participated in approximately 52 hearings prior to the one held on July 12, 2002. 1d. §40. The
four other students on the Committeewereasofemale. 1d. §42. Defendant Nye, the program coordinator
for the Educationa Leadership Program and clinical lecturer in Educationd Leadership in the Professona
Education Department, served asthe non-voting faculty advisor to the Committeefor the hearing. 1d. 143.

Nye had served in that role for gpproximately nine years and had attended approximately 55 prior

Committee hearings. 1d.  44.

® The plaintiff objectsto this paragraph of the defendants’ statement of material facts“to the extent that paragraph 25 isa
(continued on next page)



At the outset of the hearing, Nelson provided the Committee with an explanation of hisinvestigation
and the basisfor reaching the conclusion that the dleged assailant was responsiblefor the charges asserted
agang him. Id. 145. The Committee then heard testimony from, and asked questions of, twelve
witnesses, induding the plaintiff and the dleged assailant. 1d. §146. After the plaintiff testified, Committee
members and Nye asked her follow-up questions. 1d. 47. The same procedure wasfollowed after the
dleged assallant tedtified. 1d. At the concluson of the testimony of al witnesses, Nelson provided a
recommendation to the Committee regarding chargesand sanctions. 1d. 151. The plaintiff’ sattorney mede
aclosng argument. Id. The dleged assallant’ s father dso made a closng argument. Id.

The Committee members then went into a closed sesson with Nye for ddiberations. 1d. § 52.
When the Committee returned, the chair reported that the Committee found the dleged assailant not
responsible for the charges, imposed no sanctions, and recommended that the aleged assallant have no
contact with the plaintiff. 1d. 53. The plaintiff was shocked by this decision. 1d. 1 57.

The plantiff’ sfather was astudent & Rumford High School during the time that Nye served asthe
school’sprincipd. 1d. 61. He characterizes hisrdationship with Nye at that timeas“stormy.” 1d. 1 62.
They had no contact between the father’ s graduation in 1979 and the hearing on July 12, 2002. Id. Nye
recadlshisrdationship with thefather during hishigh-school yearsas®good.” 1d. §63. Thefather objected
to Nye sassgnment asfaculty advisor to the Committee hearing that resulted from hisdaughter’ scomplaint
when he wasinformed of that assgnment before the hearing was held. Flaintiff’s SMF ] 43; Defendants
Reply Statement of Facts (* Defendants Responsive SMF’) (Docket No. 74) §43. Hewastold that his

daughter could not object to Nye' s assgnment to the hearing. 1d.

legal conclusion,” but also admitsit. Plaintiff’s Responsive SMF ] 25.



Committee members do not recdl what, if anything, Nye sad during ther ddiberaions.
Defendants SMF 1 64; Plantiff’ sResponsve SMF §64. Nyerecdlsthat he said during ddliberationsthat

he found the dleged assallant’ s story to be more credible than the plaintiff's. 1d. ] 65.

On September 12, 2002 Nelson learned that the dleged assailant and the plaintiff had registered for
the same criminology class. 1d. §71. A vice-president of the University of Southern Maine contacted the
aleged assallant regarding his enrollment in that class and, as areault, the dleged assallant transferred to
another class. 1d. 72

[11. Discussion

The complaint dleges that the defendants deprived the plaintiff of due process of law and equa
protection under the Maine and federd congtitutions, defamed her, conspired to deprive her of her
condtitutiond rights, negligently harmed her and breached aduty of good faith and fair dedling. Complaint
and Jury Clam (“Complaint”) (included in Docket No. 2) Counts V-VII, XI-XII. It dso dlegesthat the
Universty of Southern Maine and the Trustees violated 20 U.S.C. § 1681, breached acontract with her,
and negligently supervised Nye, id. Counts VIII, X & XIII, and asserts a separate conditutiond clam
against Nye under 41 U.S.C. 88 1983 and 1988, id. Count IX.

A. Common Counts
1. Due Process and Equal Protection. CountsV and V1° of the complaint do not mention 42 U.S.C. §

1983, but that is the only vehide through which the plantiff may press her federd conditutiond clams.

° The plaintiff “ acknowledges that the Equal Protection Violation claim does not survive against the School Defendant,
and is addressed in the Section 1983 claim against individual Defendant Nye.” Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant
University of Southern Maine’ s Motion for Summary Judgment (“UMS Opposition”) (Docket No. 67) at 23. | takethis
statement as an admission that all three defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Count VI, and | agree. will not
(continued on next page)



Hearth, Inc. v. Department of Pub. Welfare, 617 F.2d 381, 382-83 (5th Cir. 1980). Theplantiff does
not disagree with the defendants tatement that the plaintiff’ s clams under the Maine congtitution that are
raised in these counts are to be analyzed in the same manner asthe federd clams. Mation for Summary
Judgment of Defendants University of Southern Maine and Trustees of University of Mane System, etc.
(“UMS Motion™) (Docket No. 40) at 9 n.10. The defendants view issupported by Fowlesv. Searns,

886 F. Supp. 894, 899 n.6 (D. Me. 1995), and, like the parties, | will not discuss the state congtitutiona

camsseparatdy. The plaintiff contends that her due processrights were violated by denid of theright of
cross-examination at the hearing, Ny€e sdleged bias, therefusd to recuse Nye, lack of training of Nye, use
of written statements rather than direct testimony at the hearing and lack of a right to apped the
Committee’ sdecison. UMS Opposition at 13, 14.

No process is due, of course, unless there is an underlying interest that is protected by the
Fourteenth Amendment. Johnsonv. Rodriguez, 943 F.2d 104, 109 (1st Cir. 1991); Tigrett v. Rector &
Visitors of Univ. of Va., 137 F.Supp.2d 670, 675 (W.D. Va. 2001). Here, the plaintiff relies on her
asserted property right in a public education and liberty interest in her reputation. UM S Oppositionat 12.
The plaintiff falsto surmount the initid hurdle with respect to ether of these asserted rights.

The plaintiff’ s asserted right to a public education was not at risk in the hearing process. The case
law on which she relies provides that a student whose future attendance a the educationd ingtitution is at
issueisentitled to due process protection. Gossv. Lopez, 419 U.S. 565, 567 (1975) (students suspended
from high schoal); Gormanv. University of R. 1., 837 F.2d 7, 9 (1t Cir. 1988) (student suspended after

college disciplinary hearing); Johnson v. Collins, 233 F.Supp.2d 241, 243, 247 (D.N.H. 2002) (student

consider Count V|1 further.



expelled from junior-senior high schoal); Tigrett, 137 F.Supp.2d at 673-74 (plaintiff was college sudent
facing expulson after hearing); Goodman v. President & Trustees of Bowdoin College, 135 F.Supp.2d
40, 43 (D. Me. 2001) (disciplinary action taken againg college student); Carey v. MSAD #17, 754 F.
Supp. 906, 913-14 (D. Me. 1990) (suspended student facing expulsion from junior high school). Seealso
Gomesv. Univ. of Me. Sys., 304 F.Supp.2d 117, 128 (D. Me. 2004) (“The Pantiffsareentitled to the
protections of due process, since they were facing expulson or sugpenson from a public educationa

inditution and thelr interest in pursuing an education is included within the Fourteenth Amendment’s
protection of liberty and property.”). Here, the plaintiff cites no case law in which the party seeking to
invoke due process rights was the student complaining of the conduct that might give risetothe suspension
or expulson of another sudent, and my research has located none. The plaintiff had no property right at
issuein the disciplinary processinitiated by her complaint againgt her dleged assallant; accordingly, sheis
not entitled to due process protection on this basis.’® See Johnson, 943 F.2d at 106, 110 (plaintiff sued
date agency that found no probable cause to sustain his complaint againgt university thet failed to hire him,
aleging deprivation of due process; dismissal of suit upheld, with court noting that “ Insofar as appdlant’s
arguments are veiled attemptsto obtain judicid review of appeleg s negative determination, it is clear that

we have no power to provide redress.”).

10 Contrary to the plaintiff’s argument, unsupported by citation to authority, UMS Opposition at 13, the fact that the
University of Southern Maine provided her with what she characterizes as “procedural rights” with respect tothehearing
does not and cannot mean that she thereby became entitled to the full panoply of due process rights under the
Constitution. The plaintiff also contends that she was entitled to due process protection in connection with the
Committee hearing because “it is almost a foregone conclusion that an adverse decision to an alleged victim will have
significant impact on avictim’s property and liberty interests.” 1d. That isnot a“foregoneconclusion” at al, but, evenif
it were, the argument is based on a basic misunderstanding of constitutional law. It isthe potential for injury to those
interests at the outset of the proceeding at issue that governs the availability of due process protection, not the
subjective effects suffered after the proceeding by the alleged victim.

10



The liberty interest in her reputation that is invoked by the plantiff is subject to due process
protection only when accompanied by injury to another condtitutionaly-protected interest. Paul v. Davis,
424 U.S. 693, 701 (1976). “Under Paul, an dlegation that government . . . defamation has caused
damage to reputation, even with dl attendant emotiond anguish and socid stigma, does not itsdlf datea
cause of action for violation of acongtitutiond right; infringement of more tangible interesssmust be dleged
as wdl.” Borucki v. Ryan, 827 F.2d 836, 842-43 (1« Cir. 1987) (citation and interna punctuation
omitted). “[T]he Fourteenth Amendment procedurdly protects reputation only where (1) government
action threatensit, (2) with unusudly serious harm, (3) as evidenced by the fact that employment (or some
other right or gtatus) is affected.” Beitzell v. Jeffrey, 643 F.2d 870, 878 (1« Cir. 1981). Assuming
arguendo that Nye's use of the term “love-making” to characterize the activity of which the plantiff
complained when questioning the aleged assallant — the only instance of dleged defamation cited by the
plaintiff, UMS Opposition at 22-23 — can be congdered defamatory to the plaintiff under Mainelaw™ axd
that the use of theterm threstened the plaintiff with unusudly serious harm, the plaintiff cannot meet the third
element of this test. The plantiff offers only her asserted “loss of educationa opportunity” asthat injury.
UMS Opposition at 23.

As dready discussed, the plaintiff’s property interest in a public education was not a issuein the

Committee hearing and any aleged loss of educationa opportunity™ was dueto her subjective responseto

" See, e.g., Echtenkamp v. Loudon County Pub. Sch., 263 F.Supp.2d 1043, 1056-57 (E.D. Va. 2003) (fact that allegedly
defamatory statements were made only in internal memoranda, private conversations and meeting not open to public
means they could not form basis of claim of defamation because statements were not published, so did not provide basis
for claim for denial of liberty interest without due process).

2 The evidentiary support for this argument offered by the plaintiff consists of disputed assertions that she dropped out
of aclass when she understood that the alleged assailant would be attending the same class, Plaintiff’s SMF § 56;sheis
unable to attend many fraternity functions because she may run into the alleged assailant, id. 1 58; she has seen the
alleged assailant in the gym on campus, id. 1 59; she misses classes, id. 1 63; she “deteriorated in her functioning at
school,” id. 1 66; and she has changed her career goal, id. 1 70. Whilethis may be evidence of adecreased quality of
(continued on next page)
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the outcome of the hearing, the “attendant emotiond anguish” to which the Borucki court referred, 827
F.2d at 842; it was not imposed by any of the defendants, nor could it have been. The statement itself was
not “accompanied by an dteraion in lega status or extinction of some legdly protected right,” Hunter v.

SEC, 879 F. Supp. 494, 497 (E.D. Pa. 1995) (dlegation that questions addressed to witnesses during

adminigraive investigation defamed him, resulting in lost economic opportunities; court held that no liberty
interest thereby infringed), nor could it have been. No underlying liberty interest of the plaintiff wasat stake
in the Committee proceedings, accordingly, the plaintiff is not entitled to press a due process clam.

2. Conspiracy. Count V11 dlegesthat the defendants engaged in aconspiracy inviolation of 42U.S.C. §
1985 to “ deprive]] the Plaintiff of her due processand equd protectionrights.” Complaint §153-55. The
dements of thisclam are

(1) aconspiracy, (2) aconspiratoria purposeto depriveaperson . . . directly,

or indirectly, of the equa protection of the laws or of equa privileges and

immunities under the laws, (3) an overt act in furtherance of the congpiracy, and

(4) ether (& an injury to person or property, or (b) a deprivation of a

congtitutionaly protected right or privilege.
Aulson v. Blanchard, 83 F.3d 1, 3 (1st Cir. 1996). The plaintiff offers no evidence of an injury to her
person or property; she aleges only deprivation of two conditutiondly protected rights. The plaintiff’'s
remarkably brief response to the defendants argument on thisissue asserts only that the Committee chair
permitted Nye“to violate due process’ and that the chair and Nye stated that the Committee votewas 5-0
“when in fact it was 327 UMS Opposition at 24. Because | have determined that the plaintiff is not

entitled to pursue a due process violation dam arising out of the hearing, and she has not asserted that she

educational experience, it isnot evidence of adenial or loss of educational opportunity. See eg., McGregor v. Greer, 748
F. Supp. 881, 885 (D.D.C. 1990) (effect oninterest beyond reputation “must extend beyond disadvantage or impediment
and reach the level of foreclosing the plaintiff’s freedom” to take advantage of the interest).

12



was deprived of any other congtitutiondly protected right, the defendants are entitled to summary judgment
on this count.
3. Negligence. Count XI alegesthat the defendants violated aduty to the plaintiff to use reasonable care
to ensure that the Committee proceedings “would be conducted in an appropriate fashion.” Complaint 111
77-79. Thedefendantsfirg argue that they are entitled to summary judgment on this count, and on al tort
clams asserted in the complaint, because the plaintiff failed to comply with the notice requirements of the
MaineTort ClamsAct, specificaly 14 M.R.SA. §8107. UMSMoation at 31-32. The plaintiff responds
that “ notice of tort clam wasindeed provided” and that the notice substantialy complied with the statutory
requirement. UMS Opposition at 33-34.

The plaintiff does not contest that the Maine Tort Clams Act gppliesto her tort clams againg the
defendants. The Act includes the following notice requirement:

1. Notice requirements for filing. Within 180 days after any clam or
cause of action permitted by this chapter accrues, or a a later time within the
limits of section 8110, when a clamant shows good cause why notice could not
have reasonably been filed within the 180-day limit, adamant or adamant’s
personal representative or atorney shdl file awritten notice containing:

A. The name and address of the clamant, and the name and address of the

clamant’ s attorney or other representetive, if any;

B. A concise satement of the basis of the claim, including the date, time,

place and circumstances of the act, omission or occurrence complained of;

C. Thenameand address of any governmenta employeeinvolved, if known;

D. A concise statement of the nature and extent of the injury claimed to have

been suffered; and

E. A gatement of the amount of monetary damages clamed.

3. Notices.

A. If thecdlamisagang the State or an employee thereof, copies of
the notice shall be addressed to and filed with the Sate department, board,
agency, commission or authority whose act or omissonissaid to have caused
the injury and the Attorney Generd.

* % %

13



4. Substantial notice compliance required. No clam or action shdl be

commended againgt agovernmenta entity or employee. . . unlesstheforegoing

notice provisonsare subgtantialy complied with. A daimfiled under thissection

shdl not be hdd invalid or insufficient by reason of an inaccuracy in gating the

time, place, nature or cause of the claim, or otherwise, unlessit is shown that the

governmenta entity was in fact prejudiced thereby.
14M.R.SA. §8107. TheUniversity of Maine System isconsidered an agency of the Satefor purposes of
this section. See Tobin v. University of Me. Sys., 59 F.Supp.2d 87, 93-94 (D. Me. 1999). Failureto
comply with this section bars suit. Porter v. Philbrick-Gates, 745 A.2d 996, 998 (Me. 2000). The
plaintiff does not attempt to invoke the “good cause’ exception provided by the statute. She pointsto a
|letter dated July 17, 2002 from her attorney to Craig Hutchinson,™ asserting that it meets the notice
requirements of the statute. UMS Opposition at 33.

Theletter, ontheletterhead of the plaintiff’ sattorney, satesthat the attorney representsthe plaintiff,
that the letter “is written as an gpped filed on behdf of” the plaintiff and that the letter is a “Notice of
Apped.” Letter dated July 17, 2002 from Thomeas F. Hallett to Craig Hutchinson (“Letter”) (Exh. A to
UMS Opposition)* at [1]-{2]. It does not state the plaintiff’s address. It asserts that due process
violations occurred in the Committee hearing and identifies Nye and the Committee chair asthe employees

involved. It does not give their addresses. It does give the date and circumstances of the occurrence

complained of. It does not state the amount of monetary damages clamed, nor does it Sate that any

3 Hutchinson, who is not identified in the letter as related in any way to the University of Southern Maine, served as
vice-president of that institution. Defendants’ SMF § 72; Plaintiff’ s Responsive SMF ] 72.

¥ Theletter isintroduced into the summary judgment record only by referenceto it in the plaintiff’ s memorandum of law,
UMS Opposition at 33, and its citation as authority for one paragraph of the plaintiff’s statement of material facts,
Plaintiff’s SMF 1 82. The defendants take the position that “thereis no record citation to support the admissibility of” the
letter “and therefore it cannot be considered on summary judgment.” Defendants’ Responsive SMF §82. Ordinarily,
unauthenticated documents cannot be considered in connection with amotion for summary judgment. Currier v. United
Tech. Corp., 2003 WL 1114688 (D. Me. Mar. 11, 2003), at *3 n.2. It isnot necessary to decide whether the letter may
appropriately be considered part of the summary judgment record in thisinstance because, as set forth in the text, even if
itisconsidered, it does not meet the statutory notice requirements.

14



monetary damagesareclamed. Theletter refersrepeatedly to “aviolation of dueprocess.” 1d. Asrdief,
theletter demands*“that anew committee, with anew advisor, beimpand ed to re-hear thismatter” and that
“we can set abriefing schedulefor these gpped issues” 1d. at [2]. Thereisnoindication thet theletter was
served on the atorney generd.

The letter cannot reasonably be read to convey either a“concise satement of the basis of” atort
clam or a*concise statement of the nature and extent of the injury claimed to have been suffered.” 14
M.R.SA. § 8107(1)(B) & (D). It does refer to the plaintiff's “dramatic distress’ and “the prospect of
future potentid harassment, aswell associd difficultiesarisng out of the* Not Responsible finding.” Letter
a [2]. However, those references cannot reasonably be construed to put the defendants on notice that a
tort clam is being assarted againgt them. In a case in which the tort was identified in the dleged notice,
which “contained no hint of the property damage or emotiona disress’ that the plaintiff aleged he had
suffered and which “failed to mention any monetary damages sought” by the plaintiff, the Maine Law Court
held that the dleged notice was insufficient for purposes of the Maine Tort Clams Act. Pepperman v.
Barrett, 661 A.2d 1124, 1126 (Me. 1995). Thedleged noticein thiscase provideseven lessinformation.

As was the case in Pepperman, the inadequate notice is not saved by the “subgtantid compliance”’

provison set forthin 14 M.R.SA. 8 8107(4). That provison may beinvoked “only when the errorsin the
notice amount to mere inaccuracies.” 1d. a 1127. The failure of compliance in this case, asit wasin
Pepperman, issubgtantid. Seealso Kelly v. University of Me., 623 A.2d 169, 172 (Me. 1993) (plaintiff
did not substantidly comply when notice not served on attorney genera and included only routine police

report and letter of representation).
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The defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Count X1.%°
4. Good Faith and Fair Dealing. Count XII alegesthat the defendants breached aduty established by
the Code to act with good faith and fair dedling in disciplinary proceedings. Complaint Y 80-82. The
defendants contend that no such duty exists under Maine law outside the context of sdlesof goods. UMS
Motion a 30 n.30. Theplaintiff doesnot respond to thisargument. Thisclam soundsin contract. Tobin,
59 F.Supp.2d a 95. Assuming arguendo that a contract existed between the parties, Maine does not
recognize the implied covenant of good faith in contracts other than those governed by the Uniform
Commercid Code. GMAC Commercial Mortgage Corp .v. Gleichman, 84 F.Supp.2d 127, 137 n.6
(D. Me. 1999). A contract between a student and a college or university would not be governed by the
UCC. The defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Count XI1I.
B. Claims Against the University Defendants
1. TitlelX. Theplantiff alegesthat the University of Southern Maine and the Trusteesviolated 20 U.S.C.
§1681 (known as Title 1X) by discriminating againgt her on the basis of her gender and failing to respond
adequatdly to sexud harassment againg her. Complaint 11 56-68 (Count V1I1). That Satute provides, in
relevant part:
No person in the United States shal, on the basis of sex, be excluded from

participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under

any education program or activity receiving Federd financial assstance. . . .
20U.S.C. 81681(a). Damagesin aprivate action under this datute are available only when “an officid

who at aminimum has authority to addressthe alleged discrimination and to ingtitute corrective measureson

therecipient’ sbehdf hasactud knowledge of discriminationintherecipient’ s programsand failsadequately

I Count V of the complaint may reasonably be read to allege defamation as a state-law tort, the defendants are entitled
(continued on next page)
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to respond.” Gebser v. Lago Vista Indep. Sch. Dist., 524 U.S. 274, 290 (1998). In addition, “the
response must amount to deliberate indifferenceto discrimination.” 1d. Whentheplaintiff isthecomplaning
witnessin a college disciplinary proceeding rather than the student charged, “the connection between her
aleged injuries and the actions of [the college] are [sc] more tenuous and require factud alegations that
bridge the ‘fatdl gap,” [which is the lack of particularized evidence of a causd connection between the
dlegedly flawed outcome of the disciplinary proceeding and gender bias].” Brzonkala v. Virginia
Polytechnic & Sate Univ., 935 F. Supp. 772, 776-77 (W.D.Va. 1996).

The plaintiff first contendsthat the UM S did not respond adequately in responseto her report of the
aleged sexud assault because it refused to remove Nye as faculty advisor to the Committee and
“misrepresented” his role with the Committee as*“procedurd” or “inactive” UMS Opposition at 24-25.
However, the suspension of thealeged assailant and the disciplinary hearing were gppropriate responsesto
her report. She has offered no evidence that she has been assaulted or harassed by the dleged assailant
since the hearing;*° there has been no atempt to show that the response of UMS did not “remedy the
gtuation” of which she complained. See Hayut v. State Univ. of N Y., 217 F.Supp.2d 280, 289
(N.D.N.Y. 2002); Hayut v. Sate Univ. of N. Y., 352 F.3d 733, 751-52 (2d Cir. 2003). With respect to
Ny€e's role as faculty advisor to the Committee, the summary judgment record demongrates that the
plaintiff’ sfather objected to his presence only on the basis of aperceived biasby Nye againg the plaintiff’s
father. Plaintiff’s SMF 1143-44. The denid of hisrequest that Nye be removed from the role of faculty

advisor to the Committee therefore cannot possbly have been connected in any way to the plaintiff’'s

to summary judgment on that claim as well for the same reason.

16 See Wills v. Brown Univ., 184 F.3d 20, 26 (1st Cir. 1999) (“[E]vidence of an inadequate response is pertinent to show
fault and causation where the plaintiff is claiming that she was harassed or continued to be harassed after theinadequete
response.” Emphasisinoriginal.)
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gender, nor can it serve asevidence of aninadequate responseto her complaint of sexud assault. Thesame
istrue of the dleged misrepresentations about Nye' s expected role in the hearing.

The plaintiff next contends that Nye' s “ stated determination that the sex was consensud, prior to
hearing any of the non-party witnesses’ condtituted sexua discrimination againgt her. UM S Opposition at
25. Assuming arguendo that Ny€e soneuse of theterm*“love-making’ to refer to theincident at issueinthe
hearing while questioning the alleged assailant, Plaintiff's SMF 1 46, UMS Opposition a 25-26, is
evidenceof discrimination or bias againgt the plaintiff — adubious proposition at best— wasan incident of
gender-based discrimination, the plaintiff apparently assumesthat someonewith authority to teke corrective
measureswas present at the hearing and failed to respond, because she suggests that the Committee* could
and should haveterminated the. . . hearing immediately upon Nye' s statements” UMS Opposition &t 26.
The plaintff contends that the student membersand chair of the Committee had the sufficient authority under
Gebser because they were* both decision and policy makersunder the Student Conduct Code.” 1d. n. 17.

She does not cite any entry in her satement of materid facts in support of this assertion. The only
reference in that document that might be read to be supportive of this assertion Sates that the “ Code itsalf
determines who the policy-makers are with respect to the Student Conduct Code.” Plaintiff sSSMF | 74.
Thelanguage from the Code quoted in that paragraph merely providesthat interpretation and adminigraion
of the Code is solely with the jurisdiction of the Committee. Id. That language does not establish the
members of the Committee as individuas within the UMS hierarchy holding sufficient authority to redress
Nye s dleged discrimination againg the plaintiff, such “that [their] acts condtitute an officid decison by the
school . . . itsdf not to remedy the misconduct.” Floyd v. Waiters, 171 F.3d 1264, 1264 (11th Cir.

1999). In any event, faling to terminate the hearing immediately has not been shown to be “dearly
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unreasonablein light of the known circumstances,” Davisv. Monroe County Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629,
648 (1999), and accordingly cannot condtitute deliberate indifference.

The plaintiff dso contends that she provided notice of Nye' s dleged sexud discrimination in her
lawyer’'s post-hearing letter to Hutchinson, who demongtrated the necessary ddiberate indifference by
responding “that Plaintiff had no rights, and was entitled to nothing from the school.” UMS Opposition a
26. This gatement serioudy mischaracterizes the contents of the response to the letter, which itself
requested an gpped or a new hearing as the appropriate remedy and did not seek any action againgt Nye,
Letter at [2]. A UMS lawyer responded that “[t]here are no provisions contained within the . . . Code
alowing acomplainant to gpped thefindings of the Committeg” and thet the plaintiff “asan accuser, hasno
identifiable protected interest in the proceedings (e.g., aliberty or property interest), which would have
invoked these congtitutional due process protections.” Letter dated July 29, 2202 from Todd M. Cabelka
to Thomas F. Hallett, Esg. (Exh. B to UMS Opposition).”” A new hearing would not have been a
“corrective measure’ for Nye s dleged discrimination; it would not have affected Nye at dl. In addition,
thereisno evidencein the summary judgment record that the plaintiff had any contact with Nyewhatsoever
after the hearing, let done that he continued to discriminate againgt or harass her. See Noble v. Branch
Intermediate Sch. Dist., 2002 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 19600 (W.D.Mich. Oct. 9, 2002), at *64 (Title IX
“requires only that the school digtrict not display deliberateindifference, such that future acts of harassment

are alowed to continue.”).

" Technically, this issue is not appropriately before the court at al. The plaintiff introduced this document into the
summary judgment record without proper authentication and the defendants objected. Plaintiff’s SMF 1 88; Defendants’
Responsive SMF 1 88. The objectionisgranted. Asisapparent from the discussion in thetext, if the letter were propely
apart of the summary judgment record, it would not entitle the plaintiff to relief on the asserted basis.
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The plaintiff also assertsthat the Committee permitted respondent’ sfather to accuse [the plaintiff]
of being promiscuous.” UMS Opposition a 26-27. Itisnot at dl clear how or why thisaleged omisson
fitsinto the Gebser andyss. The plaintiff assertsthat “[t]hisissue should have been previoudy addressed
by [the Chair], asthe [plaintiff and her father] wereassured it had been.” Id. a 27. Evenif thisevent were
somehow relevant to the Title IX claim, the plaintiff hersdlf included in her statement of materid factsthe
assartion that the Chair told her father that she had warned the dleged assailant and his representatives
agang trying to introduce theissue of prior sexua conduct. Plantiff’s SVIF 4] 72; Defendants Responsive
SMF 1 72. The plaintiff does not suggest what the Chair could have done to insure in advance that the
dleged assallant’s father would not ignore her directions. The warning done is sufficient evidence to
prohibit any rationd inference of ddiberate indifference in connection with this argument.

The plaintiff does contend that one incident provides specific evidence of ddiberate indifference:
“the school scheduled both [the plaintiff] and [the dleged assailant] for the same class’ at some time after
the hearing. UMS Opposition at 27. The plaintiff does not offer any evidenceto support her assertion that
the school scheduled both students for this class, rather than each student merely selecting the same class
without knowledge that the other was doing so aswell.*® The undisputed evidenceisthat when University
of Southern Maine officids|earned that both students had registered for the same class, they contacted the
aleged assailant, who transferred to another class. Defendants SMF Y 71-72; Flaintiff’s Responsve

SMF 91 71-72. Without more, such as evidence concerning the amount of time and effort that would have

8 The plaintiff asserts that deliberate indifference on the part of the defendantsis evidenced by “ permitting [the alleged
assailant] to remain as a student on campus.” UMS Opposition at 27. Title IX does not require a school to undertake
unreasonable remedies. “[I]t would be entirely reasonable for a school to refrain from aform of disciplinary action that
would expose it to constitutional or statutory claims.” Davis, 526 U.S. a 649. Banning the aleged assailant from campus
before providing him with an opportunity to be heard or after he had been found “not responsible” by the hearing body
would obviously expose the UM Sto constitutional or statutory claims by that individual.
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been required for the University of Southern Maineto assurein advancethat two individua studentswould
not be allowed to register for the same class, thisincident cannot riseto the level of ddliberate indifference
for purposes of aTitle X clam.
The UMS defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Count VII1.
2. Breach of contract. In Count X, the plaintiff allegesthat the Code established a contract between the
plantiff and the UM S defendants and that these defendants breached that contract in their conduct of the
hearing. Complaint {1 73-76. The defendants contend that no contract existed and, inthe dternative, that
none of the terms of the Code were breached and that the plaintiff was not harmed by any such breach.
UMS Moation at 29-30.
A contract exists between auniversity and itsstudents. Gomes, 304 F.Supp.2d at 130. Theterms

of the contract may include statements in the Code, seeid., orinmanuas. Manglav. Brown Univ., 135
F.3d 80, 83 (1st Cir. 1998).

The proper standard for interpreting the contractud termsisthat of reasonable

expectation — what meaning the party making the manifetation, the universty,

should reasonably expect the other party to giveit.
Id. (citation and internd punctuation omitted). It isnot entirdy clear from the plaintiff’ s memorandum of
law, but she apparently clams that the Code was breached when the defendants appointed a faculty
advisor, refused to dlow her to exclude Nye and alowed the faculty advisor to question witnesses. UMS
Opposition at 31-32." However, the provisions of the Codewhich the plaintiff cites,id. at 30-31, cannot
reasonably be read to prohibit the involvement of a faculty advisor, to accord the parties the right to

chdlenge the appointment of afaculty advisor, or to prohibit the faculty advisor from questioning witnesses.

¥ The plaintiff also assertsthat “it is up to ajury to determine whether Nye's conduct so contaminated the proceeding as
(continued on next page)
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Because thereis no evidence of breach, the UM S defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Count
X2
3. Negligent Supervision. In Count XIlII the plaintiff dleges that the UMS defendants negligently
supervised the Committee, Nyeand the hearing. Complaint 183-86. The“Paintiff acknowledgesthat the
clam for Negligent Supervison (Count XI111) does not survive”” UMS Opposition a 34. Both because
Maine does not recognize such atort, Mahar v. Sonewood Transp., 823 A.2d 540, 543 (Me. 2003),
and because such atort would be subject to the notice provisons of theMaine Tort ClamsAct, withwhich
| have aready determined the plaintiff did not comply, | agree.
C. Claim Against Nye

The plaintiff assertsaseparate claim against Nye under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, dleging that he deprived
her of her congtitutiona rights to due process and equal protection.”* Complaint ¥ 69-72 (Count 1X).
Nye adoptsthe UM S defendants arguments on relevant issues and contendsthat heisentitled to qudified
immunity on these cdlams. Defendants [sic] Ken Nye's Mation for Summary Judgment, etc. (“Nye
Motion”) (Docket No. 41) at 1, 3. Theplantiff arguesthat the following actions by Nye deprived her of
either or both of these conditutiond rights his questioning of witnesses, his “biased, manipulative’
questioning of witnesses, hisfailure to recuse himsdf; and hisuse of theterm “love-meking” in questioning
the dleged assallant. Plaintiff’s Oppostion to Defendant Nye's Mation for Summary Judgment (“Nye

Opposition”) (Docket No. 64) at 1-2.

to lead to an inappropriate result.” UMS Opposition at 32. She does not explain how “contamination” or an
“inappropriate result” constitute breaches of the Code.

* To the extent that the plaintiff may reasonably be understood to assert a claim, Opposition at 28-32, that the contract
was breached because the hearing did not afford her fundamental fairness, see Gomes, 304 F.Supp.2d at 130-31, noneof
the plaintiff’s submissions would allow a reasonabl e factfinder to conclude that any actions by the UMS rose to that
level.
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| have aready concluded that the plaintiff was not entitled to due process protection with respect to
the hearing. Accordingly, she has no clam againgt Nye for deprivation of her right to due process.

The only possible class to which the plaintiff belongs for purposes of equd protection andyss,
based on her submissons, isthat of females. In order to succeed on her equa protection claim, the plaintiff
must show that Nye treated her differently from the manner in which he treated Smilarly Stuated maes.
Barrington Cove Ltd. P’ ship, 246 F.3d 1, 7 (1st Cir. 2001). She makesno attempt to show that Nyedid
not question mae complainants in disciplinary hearings in which he served as faculty advisor or that he
recused himself asfaculty advisor when ma e students asked that he do so or were known to him to bethe
children of individuas with whom he had conflict many years earlier. Accordingly, she could not recover
agang Nyefor violation of her right to equa protection of thelawsbased on either of these dleged actions
or falurestoact. Assuming arguendo that Ny€e squestioning of witnesseswasbiased and manipulativeina
manner detrimentd to the plaintiff because sheisawoman— acharacterization that isnot supported by the
transcript of the hearing — and that his use of the term “love-making” discriminated againgt the plaintiff on
the basis of sex, Ny€ sinvocation of qudified immunity would comeinto play with respect to those actions.

There are two prongs to qudified immunity andyss.  Firg, the court must
determine, as a matter of law, whether the condtitutiond right in question was
clearly established a the time of the aleged violation. If the right is clearly
edtablished, the court must then ask whether areasonable smilarly stuated [state
actor] should have understood that the chalenged conduct violated thet right.
Sotov. Flores, 103 F.3d 1056, 1064 (1t Cir. 1997) (citationsand internal punctuation omitted). Contrary

to the plaintiff’ s assumption, Nye Opposgition at 3, it is not the generd congtitutiona rights to due process

and equd protection that are at issuein the qudified immunity andyss. Theandyssis much more specific.

% Both parties apparently assume that Nye may be considered to have been a state actor for purposes of thisclaim, a
(continued on next page)
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“Theright must be stated with sufficient particularity so that areasonable [sate actor] would understand that
what he isdoing violates that right.” Soto, 103 F.3d at 1064. Theissue hereiswhether the congtitutional
duty not to ask biased and manipulative questions of awitness at a college disciplinary hearing and the
condtitutiona duty not to use aterm that could be interpreted to favor the position of amae party over that
of afemde party in questioning awitness at acollege disciplinary hearing were clearly esteblished a thetime
of the hearing. |d. The plaintiff citesno authority onthispoint. Nothing in Hayut v. Sate Univ. of N. Y.,
127 F.Supp.2d 333 (S.D.N.Y. 2000), the only case cited by the plaintiff involving gender- based remarks,
suggests the exigence of such rights. That case involved a motion to dismissaclam of sexua harassment
based on a professor’ s repeated remarks to a femae student throughout the semester, during class; the
clam was brought under TitleIX. 1d. at 335, 337.

Even assuming that the two congtitutiona rights set forth above were clearly established & thetime
of the hearing, the plaintiff has not shown tha a reasonable faculty advisor in Ny€e's place would have
known that usng the term “love-making” once to refer to an incident that he otherwise cdled “sexud
activity” and“having sex,” Transcript, Student Conduct Committee, University of Southern Maine, July 12,
2002 (“Transcript”) (Exh. | to Affidavit of Stephen M. Nelson (Docket No. 43)) at 0015, 0041, was
unconstitutiona. Inthe absence of reported case law on point, no reasonabl e factfinder could conclude that
a reasonable faculty advisor would have drawn that concluson. See generally Jarrett v. Town of
Yarmouth, 309 F.3d 54, 63-65 (1st Cir. 2002) (discussing whether reasonabl e officer would have known
conduct was unconditutiond in light of exising case law). With respect to the clam of biased and

manipul ative questioning, the plaintiff refers specificaly to Nye' saleged attempt to “frametheissue asone

necessary predicate for aclaim under 8§ 1983 against an individual. E.g., Andresenv. Diorio, 349 F.3d 8, 13 (1 Cir. 2003).
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where [the plaintiff] wanted to engage in some sexud conduct with [the aleged assalant], but things got
carried away[] [Student Conduct Committee Transcript at 15.];” Nye's use of the dleged assallant’s
nickname when addressing him; and Nye sasking very few questions of the plaintiff’ switnesses, making no
attempt to clarify incongstencies or to bolster consstenciesin their testimony, while “extensvely clarifying
testimony” of the dleged assalant’s witnesses. UMS Oppodition a 18-19 & n.11, incorporated by
reference in Nye Opposition at 1 (fourth set of bracketsin origina).

The firg two items on this lig provide no support for the plaintiff’s pogtion. She firg
mischaracterizes Nye' s question at page 15 of the transcript. Nye asked Nelson, who had presented the
case agang the dleged assailant,

Steve, | am going to ask you for an interpretation of the events fom your

perspective. Isyour interpretation of the overall picture of what happened — is

your interpretation that [the plaintiff] and [the dleged assallant] — that [the

plantiff] wasinterested in having sex and got hersdf into astuation in which she

reached the point that she did not want to go beyond but [the dleged assailant]

forced the issue?
Transcript at 0015. That question cannot reasonably be characterized asan attempt to “ frametheissue as
onewhere[the plaintiff] wanted to engagein some sexud conduct with [the aleged assailant] but things got
carried away.” The question askstheindividua who investigated the plaintiff’ sreport for hisinterpretation
of theinformation that he obtained. 1t doesnot assume aparticular response, nor does the context support
any inferencethat Nyewas attempting to impose aparticular interpretation on Nelson. Indeed, thequestion
presumesthat, even if the plaintiff wereinitidly interested in asexuad encounter, she changed her mind and
the aleged assailant nonetheless forced sexud activity upon her. That verson of events would dso have

required discipline of the dleged assalant under the Code.  The question cannot reasonably be read to

demondtrate bias againg the plaintiff based on her gender.
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Next, Nye suseof anicknamewhen addressing the dleged assailant isunremarkable, given that the
aleged assalant introduced himsdlf that way. Id. at 0003, I. 21.

A review of the entire transcript showsthat Nyedid ask fewer questions of the plaintiff’ switnesses
than he did of the alleged assailant’ s witnesses, but that fact is not inherently suggestive of discrimingtion
based on sex. | cannot conclude that those questions were intended to bolster the testimony of those
testifying in support of themae dleged assallant, and certainly do not seein them any discriminatory animus
toward the plaintiff due to her gender. Infact, one of hisquestionsto the dleged assailant suggested doubt
about aspectsof thedleged assallant’ stestimony. 1d. at 00421. 3-7. | can only concludethat areasonable
person in Nye s position would not have known that the questions at issue were uncongtitutiond.

Nye is entitled to summary judgment on Count IX.

V. Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, | recommend that the defendants motions for summary judgment be

GRANTED.

NOTICE

A party may file objections to those specified portions of a magistrate judge’ s report or
proposed findings or recommended decisions entered pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 636(b)(1)(B) for
which de novo review by the district court is sought, together with a supporting memorandum,
within ten (10) days after being served with a copy thereof. A responsive memorandum shall be
filed within ten (10) days after thefiling of the objection.

Failuretofileatimely objection shall constitute a waiver of theright tode novo reviewhby
the district court and to appeal the district court’s order.

Dated this 31st day of August, 2004.
/s David M. Cohen
David M. Cohen
United States Magidtrate Judge
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